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Summary  

The North -east Wales Community Archaeology project,  initiated in 2013-14 with grant aid 

from Cadw , undertak es volunteer and education -oriented, archaeology-based tasks in the 

former Clwyd region, ranging from conservation to archaeological fieldwork and educational 

events. The project has continued in 2016-17 with further community -based activities 

continuing at  Llys Edwin (SAM Fl 023; PRN 100289) and Tomen y Rhodwydd  (SAM De 018; 

PRN 100932), with work at Tomen y Faerdre (SAM De 006; PRN 100888) in preparation for a 

continuation in the following season . This year, volunteer working groups also included 

students from Coleg Cambria (Llysfasi), Chester University, Liverpool University and 

Glyndǌr University. The project has once more benefited from the support of the Clwydian 

Range AONB Sustainability Fund in completing the vegetation clearance at Tomen y 

Rhodwydd.  

The focus of this yearõs work has been a continuation of the work at Llys Edwin, includ ing 

excavations within the moated site, geophysical survey and an open day. The excavation 

provided an ideal opportunity for local students to be trained in basic archaeo logical 

techniques, as well as relating to studies in other disciplines such as history, forensics, 

biodiversity and horticulture.  The excavations revealed part of the south-east wall of the hall, 

which had originally been uncovered in the 1930s, allowing a better comparison to be made 

between the recent topographical survey and plan of Glennõs excavations. The majority of 

deposits investigated consisted of various spreads of excavation backfill, from which it was 

clear that the earlier investigations were not focused on the retrieval of artefactual evidence, 

the deposits containing significant quantities of pottery, glass, met alwork and building 

materials. 

At Tomen y Rhodwydd  the project was again involved with vegetation clearance, completing 

the work within the scheduled area which has enhanced greatly the visibility of the 

monument and enabled visitors to better appreciate the earthworks. Similar work is planned 

for nearby Tomen y Faerdre in 2017-18, with an initial phase of work during the current year 

focusing on obtaining permissions and conducting a preliminary topographical survey.  
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1 Introduction  

1.1. The North -east Wales Community Archaeology project was initiated in 2013 -14 with 
grant aid from Cadw with the aim of undertaking volunteer and education -oriented, 
archaeology-based tasks in the former Clwyd region, ranging from conservation to 
fieldwork and educational events. These tasks have been identified through a process 
of consultation with Cadw and Denbighshire County Council which considers both 
conservation needs, educational opportunities and potential additional resources 
available for each. The programme of work during the first year concentrated on 
survey, conservation and outreach activities at Tomen y Rhodwydd (Castell yr 
Adwy) near Llandegla,  Denbighshire (SAM De 018; PRN 100932), and continued in 
2014-15 with further work at this site, as well as Llys Edwin, near Northop Flintshire 
(SAM Fl 023; PRN 100289) (Fig. 1).  

  
© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Welsh Assembly Government. License Number: 100017916, 2016. 

© Hawlfraint y Goron. Cedwir pob hawl. Welsh Assembly Government. License Number: 100017916, 2016. 

Fig. 1 The location of Llys Edwin and Tomen y Faerdre in North -east Wales 

1.2. The project continued in 2015-16 with further community -based activities such as 
geophysical and topographical field survey workshops and vegetation management 
conservation days, involving students from Coleg Cambria (Llysfasi), Chester 
University, Liverpool University and Glyndǌr University. Students also had the 
opportunity to visit the Flintshire Archives as part of the Llys Edwin project.  
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1.3. Following on from the success of the previous years, a further programme of 
community engagement was proposed for 2016-17. The project focussed on the 
continuation of the earthwork survey at Llys Edwin (Fl023) , the highlight being an 
evaluation (limited community excavation) of a trench from the 1931 archaeological 
excavation followed by an Open Day encompassing the results of the excavations, 
site tours and period re-enactment displays. In addition to this there was to be an 
initial phase of topographical survey and (if possible) vegetation clearance at Tomen 
y Faerdre, Llanarmon-yn-Ial (De006). The ongoing vegetation management of Tomen 
y Rhodwydd was to continue, although this would be purely volunteer based and 
was supervised voluntarily by the author. 2017 would also see the implementation of 
the Clwydian AONB funded site improvements and interpretation plan for Tomen y 
Rhodwydd. A s ever, throughout the N.E.W.C.A programme CPAT have been 
supported by regional further education institutes, students, volunteers and visitors 
from numerous local interest groups (see Appendix 1 for list of participants).  

 
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2017 

Fig. 2 The location of Llys Edwin, adjacent to Glyndǌr University and Coleg 
Cambria, Northop  
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2 Llys Edwin  

2.1. The site (SJ 2370 6933; SAM Fl 023; PRN 100289) lies less than a mile to the north-west 
of Northop, and back from  the coast by just over 3km. Rising ground to the south-
west is broken only by the sharp defile of the small watercourse known as Afon 
Conwy while flattish ground to the north -east constitutes one of the natural shelves 
in the landscape above the Dee Estuary. The following text is based on research 
undertaken by Bob Silvester as part of the Cadw-funded study of Llysoedd and 
Maerdrefi (Silvester 2015). 

2.2. In name it is associated with an 11th-century historical figure, Eadwine (or Edwin) of 
Tegeingl who appears in Domesday Book (1086). The entry for Castretone was 
assumed by T. A. Glenn to be synonymous with Llys  Edwin and that appears to have 
been accepted without question by more recent authorities (e.g. Rumble and 
Morgan). Ellis Davies referred to a nearby plantation as Coed Llys, and further  north, 
about 500m to the north-east of Llys Edwin is Llǎs Farm, but it is entirely unclear how 
far back in time these llys names can be taken.    

 

Fig. 3 Aerial view of Llys Edwin in 1987. Photo CPAT 87 -MB-872 

2.3. A succinct description was provided originally in the Royal Commissionõs Inventory 
for Flintshire in 1912 which de scribed a near-square enclosure with an inner ditch and 
outer bank, a mound in the north -east corner of the enclosure which had a separate 
bank and ditch around its west and south sides. For the Royal Commission this was 
a small Motte and Bailey, but one that was not positioned in a strong natural location. 
Further earthworks lay to the west.  
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2.4. In 1931 T. A. Glenn excavated Llys Edwin on behalf of Lady Daresbury, publishing 
his results three years later in a privately published volume entitled The Family of 
Griffith of Garn and Plasnewydd, though it was also re-printed as a separate publication. 
Glenn exposed the remains of a stone hall, probably of the first half of the 13th century, 
but with timber predecessors. From the excavation report of three years later it can be 
gathered that Glenn identified at least four phases, as well as activity, indicative 
presumably of robbing and disturbance, and artefacts from Tudor times onwards. 
The excavation revealed a gate flanked by square projecting towers and opposite on 
the far side of the moat, a stone bridge abutment. South-east of this were a hall, 
kitchen and pantry, and a further square tower occupied the north angle of the moat. 
North -west of the yard were further rooms. While subsidiary buildings were found 
inside the moat on the south-east and south-west sides and were said to include a 
forge and stables, the latter apparently large enough to accommodate twenty or more 
horses, with a ôdetached tower of great strengthõ close to the stables.   

2.5. All these remains were of stone. Glenn considered that the hall complex had been 
partially rebuilt probably in the earlier 13 th century, that the first stone phase replaced 
a half-timbered predecessor, and that this had in turn succeeded a timber building 
defined by post -holes.  

2.6. On the south-west side of the site was a second moat (or ditch), this one wider, and, 
as shown on the Ordnance Survey plan, extending further to the north -west than the 
moated enclosure, other than its south-western side which also runs on, following a 
parallel course. Early commentators saw these as outworks but the Ordnance Survey 
in 1962 were inclined to the more prosaic view that they were fishponds. The 
Ordnance Survey field investigator also recorded a further anomaly in that the north -
eastern ditch of the enclosure continued towards the south-east, halting abruptly at 
the edge of the field, but suggesting more complexity to the earthworks than 
acknowledged by Glenn.       

Earthwork Survey   

2.7. The earthwork survey commenced in 2014-15, covering a small area on the north-
western side of Llys Edwin. In 2015-16 this was extended to cover the whole of the 
scheduled site currently under the management of Glyndǌr University (see Fig. 24). 
As before, the survey afforded an opportunity for students from the n earby Glyndǌr 
University  and Chester University  to gain experience in digital surveying and the 
interpretation of earthwork monuments . Over a period of five days the students 
assisted in the production of an extensive, detailed topographical survey which 
included a transect profile across the monument.  

2.8. As well as mapping the earthworks  the students were encouraged to discuss the 
numerous management issues associated with the up-keep of a scheduled 
monument. This particular exercise generated a rather interesting degree of lively 
debate with Glyndǌr University (Biodiversity) students raising opposing 
conservation concerns to those of the Chester University (Archaeology) students. 
Both the professional CPAT staff and students benefitted from this broader view  of 
site management. The initial result was the production of a management plan (see 
Fig. 23) highlighting the principal active erosion issues at Llys Edwin. Of considerable 
concern was the extensive nature and size of the rabbit warrens, the locations of 
which , ironically,  appeared to favour areas of significant archaeology containing  
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buried in situ medieval masonry and deposits rich in palaeoenvironmental  and 
artefactual potential. Two fragments of pottery , a strap handle and a body sherd from 
a fine example of a 13th-century jug , and the corroded remains of an iron riding spur 
were recovered from the warren spoil. In addition to this there was considerable 
surface evidence of medieval masonry crumbling as a consequence of animal 
turbation . 

2.9. The results of the 2014-15 and 2015-16 surveys of Llys Edwin have allowed the 
production of  a composite plan combining the topographical survey with Glennõs 
plan of the 1931 excavations, published in 1934 (see Fig. 24). From this it is now 
possible to ascertain a more accurate interpretation of Glennõs excavation results, 
compared with what is visible today, as a series of low lying earthworks, possible 
spoil heaps and denuded tower masonry. 

2.10. Further topographical survey had originally been planned for 2016-17, although the 
vegetation was such that it was not possible to undertake the survey at the time the 
excavation was conducted. It is hoped that this will continue in 2017/18 , providing 
further training opportunities for students. The results will  also inform future 
vegetation management plans for this part of the site, currently under the care of 
Coleg Cambria. 

Excavation 

2.11. Following on from  recommendations made in 2015-16 an area was identified which 
was known to have been investigated by Glenn, and therefore had significant 
archaeological potential, and was also under active threat from animal burrowing. 
The intention was to demonstrate the level of disturbance to the archaeological 
resource, identify key features recorded by Glenn to facilitate compar isons with the 
excavation plans, as well as gain a better understand ing of  the archaeological 
deposition  in this area. The excavation was undertaken entirely by hand over a period 
of 10 days, within an area measuring 15m by 5m, the work being conducted  according 
to the Chartered Institute for Archaeologistsõ (CIfA) Standard and Guidance for 
Archaeological Field Evaluation (2014). 

2.12. The trench (see Figs 24-5) was located within an area described by Glenn as the south-
east end of the main (great) hall, with the kitchens and a scullery to the rear, both built 
in timber rather than stone  (Glenn 1934, 6-8). While Glennõs published report does 
not include any photographs of this area illustrations of other areas which were 
investigated demonstrates that significant structural remains were identified which 
is presumed were left in situ. 
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Fig. 4 Glennõs excavations of the main gate (Glenn 1934, fig. 1) 

 

Fig. 5 Glennõs excavations of the fireplace of in the solar (Glenn 1934, facing p. 12) 

2.13. The excavations was undertaken with the aid of local volunteers and students from 
Coleg Cambria, Glyndǌr and Chester Universities, as well as members of the 
Clwydian Range Archaeology Group (CRAG) (see Appendix 1 for participants) . The 
participation of local students was particula rly valuable since this drew in not only 
archaeology students, but also those studying history, forensics, biodiversity and 
horticulture.   

2.14. Around  0.14ð0.2m of topsoil was removed to reveal a spread of rubble (02), the size 
of stones suggesting that this material had been sorted prior to its deposition, 
indicating that it was part of the 1930s excavation backfill and not demolition or 






































